# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

LARRY TAYLOR

APPELLANT

VS.

RE: CASE NO. 2010-CA-01912

T

# ALFORD BELL& SHEILA BELL

APPELLEES

# **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that justices of the Supreme court and/or the Judges of the court of appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Larry Taylor, Appellant (Defendant), 1674 S. Victoria Avenue, Los Angeles, CA 90019;
- 2. Alford Bell and Sheila Bell, Appellees (Plaintiffs), 237 Pittsboro Street, Houston, MS 38851;

# STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- Did the lower court err in "establish[ing] a boundary line between Mr. Bell and Mr. Taylor" absent clear and convincing evidence proving adverse possession by Mr. and Mrs. Bell?
- 2. Did the lower court err in merely "establish[ing] a boundary line between Mr. Bell and Mr. Taylor" absent any findings of facts as to each element of adverse possession?

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 4, 2009, Alford and Shelia Bell (hereinafter "Bell") filed their Complaint to Confirm Title and Remove Cloud on Title against Larry Taylor (hereinafter "Taylor") in the 1<sup>st</sup> Judicial District of Chickasaw County, Mississippi, asking for title to vest in a certain strip of property titled by deed in Taylor. (R 3-13; RE 4-13)

Thereafter, Taylor filed his Answer and Counter-Complaint on about April 14, 2010, asserting that the strip of property was titled in his name and on which he had paid the taxes. (R 14-18; RE 14-18); followed by Bells' Answer to Taylor's Counter-Complaint. (R 19-20; RE 19-20)

The matter was tried before the Honorable Chancery Court on September 9, 2010, with Judgment rendered from the bench (T 39-40; RE 38-39), and then filed of record on or about October 19, 2010. (R 24; RE22)

This matter involves a property line dispute via a claim of adverse possession by the Bells. The properties of the parties are adjoining and are located in a subdivision within the city limits of Houston.

Following the presentation of testimony, exhibits and a view of the premises by the court, the court issued a Judgment "establish[ing] a boundary line between Mr. Bell and Mr. Taylor at the point that is halfway between the center line of the ditch to the fencepost that's set on the north end of the property and let it run due south." (T 39-40; RE 38-39)

Feeling aggrieved, Mr. Taylor perfected his appeal.

# **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

The Bells and Mr. Taylor own adjoining lots within the city limits of Houston,

Mississippi, within the 1<sup>st</sup> Judicial District of Chickasaw County.

All parties agree where the property line between their lots is according to their respective deeds and surveys. (R 7-10, 12; Defendant's Exhibits - D1 & D-2; RE 8-13, 29-33)

Bell claims adverse possession of a strip of land included in Taylor's deed, as well as in both the survey procured by Mr. Bell and the one procured by Mr. Taylor. The parties stipulated to tax cards, i.e., that Mr. Taylor and his predecessors in title have consistently paid the taxes on the strip sought by Mr. Bell, and that Bell has never paid the taxes on that piece of property.

# **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

As set out above, the facts of this case are fairly straightforward. The parties herein own adjoining lots in the town of Houston. The strip of land at issue is titled in Mr.

Taylor, as it was in his predecessors in title.

The record clearly reflects that Mr. Bell did nothing more than mow the strip of land, most of which time Taylor's predecessors in title were aged and/or widowed.

Furthermore, Mr. Bell consistently acknowledged the ownership of the strip of land by Taylor's predecessors in title, and then Taylor.

The Bells fall significantly short of meeting their burden of proving adverse possession. Commensurate therewith, the Bells' Complaint should be denied and dismissed.

At the very least, since there was not an on-the-record finding as to each element of adverse possession, this matter should be remanded for findings commensurate with instructions from this Court.

# **ARGUMENT**

#### I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review in these matters is well settled law in Mississippi, as recently reiterated:

When reviewing a chancellor's decision, we will accept a chancellor's findings of fact as long as the evidence in the record reasonably supports those findings. In other words, we will not disturb the findings of a chancellor

unless those findings are clearly erroneous or an erroneous legal standard was applied. (Peagler v. Measells, 743 So. 2d 389, 390 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999)). The chancellor, as the trier of fact, evaluates the sufficiency of the proof based on the credibility of witnesses and the weight of their testimony. (Ellison, 820 So. 2d 734) (citation omitted)). The standard of review for questions of law is de novo.

Niebanck v. Block, 35 So. 3d 1260, 1263 (Miss. Ct. App. 2010). See also: Cook V. Robinson, 924 So. 2d 592, 594 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006).

# II. ADVERSE POSSESSION and the STANDARD OF PROOF

"Adverse Possession" is defined by statute as:

Ten (10) years' actual adverse possession by any person claiming to be the owner for that time of any land, uninterruptedly, continued for ten (10) years by occupancy, descent, conveyance, or otherwise, in whatever way such occupancy may have commenced or continued, shall vest in every actual occupant or possessor of such land a full and complete title[.]

Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-13(1). (Noting: portion re: saving as to persons under disability intentionally omitted, as not applicable herein.)

The standard of proof in adverse possession cases is also well settled in Mississippi law. Mississippi, long disfavoring the acquisition of another's land via adverse possession, has prudently set the standard as requiring "clear and convincing evidence" to prevail on such a claim.

This Honorable Court has repeatedly and consistently set forth the elements and standard in adverse possession cases. The elements and standard were recently again set forth succinctly in Knight v. Covington County, 27 So. 3d 1163, 1167 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009), as follows: "[F]or possession to be adverse it must be (1) under claim of ownership;

- (2) actual or hostile; (3) open, notorious and visible; (4) continuous and uninterrupted for a period of ten years; (5) exclusive; and (6) peaceful." (quoting <u>Blackburn v. Wong</u>, 904 So. 2d 134, 136 (¶ 15) (Miss. 2004) (citations omitted)). The Knight court went on to state that, "[t]he party claiming adverse possession must prove each element by clear and convincing evidence. <u>Id.</u> (citations omitted)" <u>Knight</u>, 27 So. 3d @ 1167.
- III. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN "ESTABLISH[ING] A BOUNDARY LINE BETWEEN MR. BELL AND MR. TAYLOR" ABSENT CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE PROVING ADVERSE POSSESSION BY MR. AND MRS. BELL?

To restate the obvious, the Bells have the burden of proof, by clear and convincing evidence of each and every element of adverse possession as set forth by the <u>Knight</u> court, it predecessors and successors.

Mr. Bell's testimony alone defeats his claim of adverse possession. The properties of the Bells and Taylor are adjoining with a ditch running through Mr. Taylor's property. Mr. Taylor's predecessors in title, the Freemans, were older, and in fact, Mr. Freeman had passed away prior to 1984. (See T17-18; RE 36-37). The Bells had lived next door to the Freemans until Mr. Freeman's passing, and then remained next-door neighbors with Mrs. Freeman until she sold the property to Mr. Terry Taylor, brother of Defendant, Mr. Larry Taylor, in August of 2004.

Besides the approximately six and one-half (6 ½) foot portion of Taylor's property on which a part of Mr. Bell's home sets, Mr. Bell testified that all he did was to mow the remaining portion from his property line to the ditch. (T17-18; RE 36-37) Mr. Bell testified that all along he knew and acknowledged that the strip of property now in dispute

belonged to the Freemans and then to Mr. Taylor. He testified that he effectively had permission to be on the property by both the Freemans and Mr. Taylor. (T 16-18; RE 35-37)

Mr. Bell offered testimony stating that he attempted to purchase the strip of property from Mrs. Freeman and then from Mr. Taylor. (T 16; RE 35) That is, Mr. Bell's acts and testimony show that he lacked the "intention to possess and hold [the strip of] land to the exclusion of and in opposition to, the claims of all others, and [his] conduct [] [belies] an unequivocal indication that he [was] exercising dominion of a sole owner."

Lynn v. Soterra, Inc., 802 So. 2d 162, 168 (Miss. Ct. App., 2001) (quoting Rawls, 602 So. 2d @ 1169 (quoting 2 C.J.S. Adverse Possession §§ 54 (1972))).

An inequitable and unjust precedent would be set should the Bells be allowed to prevail on their claim, which essentially asserts that mowing the yard of the elderly under the guise of neighborly kindness could result in the loss of property to the elderly, infirmed and / or widowed.

Accordingly, based on the law and the facts as presented, Mr. Taylor respectfully submits that the judgment of the lower court should be reversed and rendered, denying the Bells' requested relief for title via adverse possession, with all appropriate costs assessed to the Bells.

IV. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN MERELY "ESTABLISH[ING] A BOUNDARY LINE BETWEEN MR. BELL AND MR. TAYLOR" ABSENT ANY FINDINGS OF FACTS AS TO EACH ELEMENT OF ADVERSE POSSESSION?

Alternatively, inasmuch as the lower court did not flesh out its judgment with an

on-the-record findings-of-facts as to each element of adverse possession, Mr. Taylor would submit that this matter should at least be reversed and remanded for specific findings relative to the honorable chancellor's judgment and commensurate with any instructions of this Court.

# **CONCLUSION**

Based on the well settled law relative to adverse possession as applied to the straight forward facts in this matter, Mr. Taylor respectfully submits that the Bells have not and can not meet their burden of clear and convincing evidence supporting their claim of adverse possession. Accordingly, Mr. Taylor respectfully requests that this case be reversed and rendered in his favor, with all appropriate and allowable costs and fees assessed to the Bells.

Alternatively, Mr. Taylor respectfully submits that this case should at least be remanded for on-the-record findings as to each element of adverse possession.