IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2010-CA-01912

LARRY TAYLOR

APPELLANT

V.

ALFORD BELL AND SHELIA BELL

APPELLEES

BRIEF OF APPELLEES

Appeal from the Chancery Court of the First Judicial District of Chickasaw County, Mississippi

RANDOLPH WALKER, ESQ. WALKER LAW OFFICE, PLLC POST OFFICE BOX 1492 408 EAST WALDRON STREET CORINTH, MS 38835-1492 TELEPHONE: (662) 665-9536 TELECOPIER: (662) 396-4329 E-MAIL: walker408@comcast.net

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2010-CA-01912

LARRY TAYLOR

APPELLANT

V.

ALFORD BELL AND SHELIA BELL

APPELLEES

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Did the Bells establish adverse possession by clear and convincing evidence?
- II. Did the trial court commit error in failing to make findings of facts as to the elements of adverse possession?
- III. Did the trial court commit error in establishing a boundary line between the parties?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nature of case, course of proceedings and disposition in trial court

This is an appeal by Larry Taylor, Appellant ("Taylor"), from an October 19, 2010 judgment of the Chancery Court of the First Judicial District of Chickasaw County, Mississippi. (RE 22). On December 4, 2009, Alford Bell and Sheila Bell, Appellees ("the Bells") filed a Complaint in Chancery Court to Confirm Title and to Remove a Cloud on Title. (RE 4-12). The Complaint alleged, *inter alia*, that the Bells had acquired, by adverse possession, title to a portion of the lot of Taylor that adjoins their property. (RE 5).

Taylor denied that the Bells had acquired any title or interest in his property. (RE 14-18). This cause came on for trial on September 9, 2010, in the Chancery Court for the First Judicial District of Chickasaw County, before the Honorable Kenneth M. Burns, Chancellor. After hearing the evidence and arguments of counsel for the respective parties, the Court determined that the Bells had met their burden of proof, and ordered that "a boundary line be established at the point halfway between the center line of the ditch to the fence post that's set on the north end of the property and let it run due south." (RE 38-39). A judgment consistent with the ruling of the Court was entered on October 19, 2010. (RE 22).

On November 17, 2010, Taylor filed his notice of appeal. (RE 23).

ii. Statement of Facts

The Bells are the owners of real property in the First Judicial of Chickasaw County, Mississippi, located at 237 Pittsboro Street, Houston, MS. (Transcript ("T"), p. 4). The Bells have lived on this property as their homestead since 1974 (T. 5).

Adjoining the property of the Bells is land owned by Taylor. (T. 4). In 1984, the Bells

had a survey performed on the real property that is the subject of this action. This survey revealed an encroachment of their dwelling on the adjoining real property claimed by Taylor. However, at the time the Bells purchased the property, they were led to believe that the boundary line for their property was the ditch on the west side. (T. 6).

Beginning in 1974, the Bells maintained the property to the ditch as their own. Neither the Taylors, nor anyone on their behalf made any claim to this property. (T. 12). The Bells never asked Mr. Taylor or his predecessors in title for permission to use the property. (T. 13). The Bells have maintained the disputed property by having it landscaped and keeping it mowed. (T. 14).

In April 2010, Taylor constructed a fence to deny the Bells access to the subject property. (T. 13-14).

At the conclusion of the trial of this action, the Chancellor held that "a boundary line be established at the point halfway between the center line of the ditch to the fence post that's set on the north end of the property and let it run due south." (RE 38-39). Taylor appealed the decision of the Chancellor.¹

¹The Bells filed a Notice of Cross Appeal in this cause. (RE 25). The Bells have abandoned this cross appeal and will not file a brief in connection with the cross appeal.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In Mississippi, the courts have defined possession as effective control over specific property evidenced by things that are perceptible to the senses. *Blankenship v. Payton*, 605 So.2d 817, 819 (Miss. 1992). The factual question before the court is whether "acts by the adverse possessor are sufficient to 'fly his flag' over land and to put the record title on notice that the land is being held under an adverse claim of ownership." *Friar v. Templet*, 724 So.2d 517, 519 (Miss. App. 1998). The burden of proof to establish adverse possession is clear and convincing evidence. *Stringer v. Robinson*, 760 So.2d 6, 9 (Miss. App. 1999).

Taylor did not make a request for separate findings of fact or conclusions of law under MRCP 52. Where a party does not request that the chancellor make separate findings and conclusions, the chancellor will not be held in error for failing to do so. *Turner v. Turner*, 744 So.2d 332 (Miss. App. 1999).

The Bells established by clear and convincing evidence that their possession of the disputed property was under claim of ownership, actual, open, notorious and visible. Their possession was uninterrupted for more than ten (10) years, and it was exclusive and peaceful. *Stewart v. Graber*, 754 So.2d 1281, 1284 (Miss. App. 1999)(setting forth the elements of adverse possession). The judgment of the trial court should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I. THE BELLS ESTABLISHED ADVERSE POSSESSION BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE.

The evidence presented by the Bells clearly established adverse possession of the subject property claimed by Taylor. The testimony established that the Bells had the property surveyed, lived on the property and maintained the property. They lived on it continuously from 1974 until 2010, when Taylor attempted to assert ownership by building a fence. During this period, the Bells possession was open, notorious and visible, and it was exclusive and peaceful.

After hearing the testimony of the Bells and reviewing the evidence, the Chancellor made the only decision that could be supported by the evidence: He ordered that "a boundary line be established at the point halfway between the center line of the ditch to the fence post that's set on the north end of the property and let it run due south." Implicit in this ruling is a finding that the Bells had adversely possessed the subject property.

An appellate court will not disturb the findings of a chancellor unless they are manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or an erroneous legal standard was applied. *Nichols v. Funderburk*, 883 So.2d 554, 556 (Miss. 2004). When there is substantial evidence to support a chancellor's findings, an appellate court is without authority to disturb a chancellor's conclusions. A *de novo* standard of review is utilized in analyzing the interpretation and application of the law by the chancellor. *Weissinger v. Simpson*, 861 So.2d 984, 987 (Miss. 2003).

In the instant case, the Chancellor found that there was sufficient evidence to support judgment for the Bells. His findings should not be disturb by this Court, even if it might have found otherwise as an original matter. *Nichols v. Funderburk*, 883 So.2d 554, 556 (Miss. 2004).

II. THE CHANCELLOR DID NOT COMMIT ERROR IN FAILING TO SPECIFICALLY FIND THE FACTS AS TO ADVERSE POSSESSION.

Taylor argues that the Chancellor committed error in failing to specifically find the facts as to the elements of adverse possession. Taylor did not make a request for specific findings of fact under MRCP 52. A party cannot complain of the absence of findings of fact when he fails to request them. *Illinois Cent. R.R. v. Samson*, 799 So.2d 20 (Miss. 2001). Additionally, where the Chancellor has made no specific findings, the appellate court should proceed on the assumption that the chancellor resolved all such fact issues in favor of the appellee. *Nichols v. Funderburk*, 883 So.2d 554, 556 (Miss. 2004).

The Chancellor in this case heard the evidence and determined that the facts were sufficient to establish adverse possession. Taylor should not be allowed to complain of the failure of the Chancellor to specifically find the facts where he failed to make a request as allowed by the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure.

III. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ESTABLISHING A BOUNDARY LINE BETWEEN THE PARTIES.

In order to establish adverse possession the evidence must show that possession is: (1) under claim of ownership; (2) actual or hostile; (3) open, notorious and visible; (4) continuous and uninterrupted for a period of ten years; (5) exclusive; and (6) peaceful. *Thornhill v. Caroline Hunt Trust Estate*, 594 So.2d 1150, 1153 (Miss. 1992).

The evidence in this case clearly established by clear and convincing evidence that the Bells had met the elements for adverse possession. The Chancellor, after making this

determination, issued an order establishing a boundary to resolve the property dispute. The judgment of the Chancellor was supported by substantial evidence and should be affirmed by the Court.

CONCLUSION

The Chancellor found by clear and convincing evidence that the Bells had established the elements for adverse possession. Taylor argues that the Chancellor should have specifically found the facts with regard to each element. However, Taylor failed to exercise his right under MRCP 52 to request such findings. Where a party does not request that the chancellor make separate findings and conclusions, the chancellor will not be held in error for failing to do so. *Turner v. Turner*, 744 So.2d 332 (Miss. App. 1999).

There is no merit to any of the issues raised by Taylor. This Court should affirm the decision of the Chancery Court of the First Judicial District of Chickasaw County, Mississippi.